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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAM WIETSCHNER, individually and on behalf of No. C 03-0632 MJJ
al other smilarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

ORDER GRANTING MOTION
V. TO DISMISS

MONTEREY PASTA COMPANY, R. LANCE
HEWITT, and STEPHEN BRINKMAN,

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

Before the Court is Defendant Monterey Pasta Company (“Monterey Pasta’), R. Lance Hewitt
and Stephen Brinkman's! Motion to Dismiss a federal securities fraud action brought against them by a
class consisting of al persons who purchased or otherwise acquired Monterey Pasta stock between July
11, 2002 and December 16, 2002. Defendants seek an Order dismissing the Amended Complaint with
prejudice under the heightened pleading requirements of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 (“Reform Act” or “PSLRA”) and pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and 9(b).
For the following reasons, this motion is GRANTED with leave to amend within twenty (20) days of the
filing of this Order.

t When referred to separately, Defendants Hewitt and Brinkman will be referred to as “Individual
Defendants’ throughout this memorandum. The three Defendants, Monterey Pasta, Mr. Hewitt and Mr.
Brinkman, will be collectively referred to hereinafter as “Defendants.”
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

This motion arises from an Amended Complaint alleging securities fraud in violation of section 10(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder against all Defendants, and
violation of section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act against two individual defendants who are
corporate officers. The Complaint is brought on behaf of a class consisting of all persons who purchased
or otherwise acquired Monterey Pasta stock between July 11, 2002 and December 16, 2002. The
Complaint alleges that during the class period Defendants Monterey Pasta; R. Lance Hewitt, Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board; and Stephen Brinkman, Chief Financial Officer,
Vice President and a Director of the company, violated federal securities law by misrepresenting material
facts about Monterey Pasta’ s business, operations and management during the class period and that class
Plaintiffs were damaged thereby.

Monterey Pastais a Delaware Corporation with its principal place of business in Salinas, California.
The company is a producer and distributor of refrigerated gourmet pastas, soups, gnocchi, sauces, pizzas,
salsas, dips and other foods to restaurants and grocery stores. The company markets and sells its products
primarily through grocery and club stores throughout the United States, Canada, the Carribean, Latin
American, and Asia-Pacific regions. The company distributes its products through either “direct store
delivery” or common carrier. Among Monterey Pasta’s biggest customers are Costco, accounting for
approximately 43% of the company’s net revenue in 2002, and Sam’s Club and Wal-Mart Supercenters,
accounting for another 31% of net revenue in 2002.

Paintiffs allege that throughout the class period, approximately coinciding with the third and fourth
fiscal quarters of 2002, Defendants issued numerous fal se statements concerning the company’ s financial
performance and future prospects. Plaintiffs specifically challenge statements made in press releases issued
on July 11, July 29, July 30, September 4, and October 31, 2002 and statements made in an SEC Form
10-Q filed on November 12, 2002. Plaintiffs assert that Monterey Pasta claimed to be a company with
substantial growth potential and efficient operating procedures, and that it enticed investors by reporting
earnings growth in consecutive quarters without disclosing adverse known information. Plaintiffs allege that
Defendants failed to disclose that a major customer had adopted a new pilot purchasing program which

negatively impacted the Company’s sales and earning growth both in the short and long term, and failed to
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disclose that the company’s sales tactic of “channel stuffing” had inundated the market and that as a result
the company would not be able to sustain continued earnings growth.?

Representative of Plaintiffs’ alegationsis July 11, 2002, when Monterey Pasta issued a press
release in which it revised sales revenue estimates for the quarter from ten to fifteen percent growth down to
three percent growth over the prior year. The company noted a “ significant reduction in order volume from
[amagjor customer] for nearly four weeks’ but stated that “[t]his interruption has since been rectified and
orders have resumed at more normal levels since late June. However, we do not fedl it is necessary to
revise our previous earnings estimate.” (Compl. 1 35.) Plaintiffs assert that this and other statements made
in the press release were false and midleading because the company knew at the time the statements were
made that the sales and earnings projections were unreasonable and lacking in reasonable basis. Plaintiffs
contend that sales from the company’s two major customers actually continued to decline and the company
engaged in an aggressive campaign to over-distribute product in early July 2002 to create an image of sales
and earning growth.

Also representative is Defendants September 4, 2002 press release, in which the company
admitted to sales below expectations but stated that it was “optimistic” about earnings of $.31 to $.32 for
the year. Plaintiffs contend that such statements were false and misleading when made or lacked a
reasonable basis because they did not disclose a continued decline in demand for product due to trends and
channd suffing.

On December 17, 2003, Monterey Pasta issued a press release in which it announced downward
revision of 4Q02 sales revenue from projections of twelve to fifteen percent down to afive percent increase
over the prior year, attributing the decline to weak sales to the company’s second largest customer. The
press release stated that “[t]he problem with this customer really began in June concurrent with the
inception of a new pilot purchasing program” which created significant variability in weekly orders. After
the program was suspended by the customer in November, orders were reduced to amost insignificant

amounts for a period of two weeks. Following the December 17, 2002 announcement, Monterey Pasta

?Although Plantiffs label this practice in a number of ways throughout the Amended Complaint, in
essence Plaintiffs argue that Defendants engaged in the practice of “channel stuffing.” Channel stuffing occurs
when a distributor oversupplies inventory to atificidly inflate sales, which will then subsequently drop as the
distributors no longer make orders while they deplete their excess supply. Steckmanv. Hart Brewing, Inc.,
143 F.3d 1293, 1298 (9th Cir. 1998).




United States District Court

For the Northern District of California

© 0O ~N oo o b~ w NP

L L i < e
N~ o o~ W N B O

[T
© o

N N DN DN DD N NN DNDDN
0o N o o b W N P O

stock fell 37.8%, down to $4.26 per share. Plaintiffs allege that Monterey Pasta stock had traded at
artificially inflated prices throughout the class period, that Plaintiffs relied on the integrity of the market price
in purchasing the stock, and that the fall in stock price and resulting damage to Plaintiffs was caused by
Defendants deception throughout the class period.

Paintiffs allege that Defendants knew that the chalenged statements were materially false and
misleading when made, knew that the challenged statements or documents would be disseminated to the
public, and knowingly participated or acquiesced in the issuance of the statements or documents. They
further claim that Individual Defendants, because of their positions within the company, had access to the
undisclosed information about the company’ s business operations, trends and prospects. Plaintiffs refer to
Defendants' corporate Expandable MRP system, whereby Defendants are provided with immediate and
complete financia information on the company, apparently as some proof of Defendants’ scienter. Plaintiffs
also contend that individual defendants Hewitt and Brinkman profited from Defendants deception by selling
shares at inflated prices before disclosing material adverse information about Monterey Pasta's sales and
earnings, and that thisis further evidence of scienter. Finally, Plaintiffs assert violations of generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), claiming that Monterey Pasta failed to properly report financial
results for 3Q02, as further support for their securities fraud allegations.

JUDICIAL NOTICE

In addition to the Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint, Defendants have filed a Request for
Judicial Notice, and ask the Court to notice a number of documents and two “matters of common
knowledge.” Before beginning its analysis of the Motion to Dismiss, the Court will discuss this Request for
Judicia Noticein order to define the scope of information the Court is considering in the Motion to Dismss.
Federal Rule of Evidence 201 alows a court to take judicial notice of afact “not subject to reasonable
disputeinthat itis. .. capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy
can not reasonably be questioned.”

l. Documents Explicitly Referenced in the Complaint

Defendants first ask the Court to take judicial notice of specified press releases and SEC filings

explicitly referenced in the Amended Complaint under the “incorporation by reference” doctrine. This

doctrine permits the Court to consider documents aleged in a complaint and whose authenticity no party
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questions, but which are not physicaly attached to [plaintiffs'] pleading.” Branch v. Tunnell, 14 F.3d 449,
454 (9th Cir. 1994). Here, thisincludes press releases dated July 11, July 29, July 30, September 4,
October 31, and December 17, 2002, as well as Monterey Pasta’'s 3Q02 Form 10-Q, all of which are
attached to the Declaration of David Banie and explicitly referenced in Plaintiffs Complaint. Plaintiffs do
not dispute the authenticity of any of these documents, or claim that Monterey Pasta’ s documents contain
errors. Absent such an argument, incorporation under Branch is warranted.

. Documents Implicitly Relied on by the Complaint

Defendants also ask the Court to take judicia notice of several documents necessary to Plaintiffs
alegations, even if not explicitly referenced in the Complaint. These include SEC Forms 4 filed on behalf of
the two Individual Defendants, Monterey Pasta’s SEC Form 10-K for the period ending December 28,
2002; and press releases from March 25 and September 3, 2002 and January 9, 2003 addressing Mr.
Hewitt’ s retirement and Mr. Williams' hiring.

On aMoation to Dismiss, documents crucial to the plaintiff's claims but not explicitly incorporated in
acomplaint can be noticed in order to prevent a plaintiff from surviving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion by
deliberately omitting references to documents upon which their clams are based. Parrinov. FHP, Inc.,
146 F.3d 699, 706 (9th Cir. 1998). On thisbasis, the Court takes judicial notice of Mr. Hewitt and Mr.
Brinkman's SEC Forms 4 and the SEC Form 10-K in that they are clearly, if indirectly, referenced in the
Complaint asintegral to the stock sale allegations made in the Complaint. The press releases from March
25 and September 3, 2002 and January 9, 2003 discussing Mr. Hewitt’ s retirement and Mr. Williams
hiring may aso be noticed on this basis.

[11.  Mattersof Common Knowledge

Finally, Defendants ask the Court to judicialy notice of two matters of “common knowledge.” See
Newcomb v. Brennan, 588 F.2d 825, 289 (7th Cir. 1977) (courts “may take judicial notice of facts of
‘common knowledge' in ruling on amotion to dismiss’). Defendants first ask the Court to notice that
Monterey Pasta products are perishable, in light of Plaintiffs admission that the products are refrigerated.
See Compl. 12, 25. Becauseit iswell known in the community that refrigerated goods are generally
perishable, it appears that the Court may notice this fact to the extent that it is relevant. Defendants also

ask the Court to notice certain revenue numbers reported by Wal-Mart and Costco, asserting that the size
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of large public companiesis a matter of public knowledge. Although it may be common knowledge that

Walmart and Costco are “large” corporations, specific revenue numbers and the information included in

these companies’ SEC Forms 10-K are not matters of common knowledge, are not sufficiently relevant to

the allegations in the Complaint, and will not be judicialy noticed for purposes of this Motion to Dismiss.
LEGAL STANDARDS

1) Rule 12(b)(6)

A court may dismiss acomplaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for either
lack of a cognizable legal theory or the pleading of insufficient facts under an adequate theory. Robertson
v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 749 F.2d 530, 533-34 (9th Cir. 1984). When deciding upon a motion to
dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6), a court
must take al of the materid dlegationsin plaintiff’s complaint as true, and construe them in the light most
favorable to plaintiff. Parks School of Business, Inc. v. Symington, 51 F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th Cir. 1995).
Moreover, acomplaint should not be dismissed unless a plaintiff could prove no set of factsin support of
his claim that would entitle him to relief. Id.

In the context of amotion to dismiss, review is limited to the contents in the complaint. Allarcom
Pay Television, Ltd. v. General Instrument Corp., 69 F.3d 381, 385 (9th Cir. 1995). When matters
outside the pleading are presented to and accepted by the court, the motion to dismiss is converted into one
for summary judgment. Where such a conversion takes place, al parties must be given an opportunity to
present all material made pertinent to such amotion by Rule 56. In re Pacific Gateway Exchange, Inc.
Sec. Lit.,, 169 F. Supp. 2d 1160, 1164 (N.D. Cal. 2001); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b). However,
matters properly presented to the court, such as those attached to the complaint and incorporated within its
alegations, may be considered as part of the motion to dismiss. See Hal Roach Sudios, Inc. v. Richard
Feiner & Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 1989).

Where a plaintiff failsto attach to the complaint documents referred to in it, and upon which the
complaint is premised, a defendant may attach to the motion to dismiss such documentsin order to show
that they do not support plaintiff’s claim. See Pacific Gateway Exchange, 169 F. Supp. 2d at 1164,
Branch v. Tunnell, 14 F.3d 449, 44 (9th Cir. 1994), cert denied, 512 U.S. 1219 (1997). Thus, the

district court may consider the full texts of documents that the complaint only quotesin part. See Inre Stay
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Electronics Sec. Lit., 89 F.3d 1399, 1405 n.4 (1996), cert denied, 520 U.S. 1103 (1997). Thisrule
precludes plaintiffs “from surviving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion by deliberately omitting references to documents
upon which their claims are based.” Parrino v. FHP, Inc., 146 F.3d 699, 705 (9th Cir. 1998).

2) Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act provides, in part, that it is unlawful “to use or employ
In connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or any
Ssecurity not so registered, any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such
rules and regulations as the [SEC] may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).

Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful for any person to use interstate commerce

€) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud.

(b) To make any untrue statement of material fact or to omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they

were made, not misleading, or

(© To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as

afraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5

To be actionable under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff must allege (1) a misrepresentation
or omission; (2) of material fact; (3) made with scienter; (4) on which the plaintiff justifiably relied; (5) that
proximately caused the alleged loss. See Binder v. Gillespie, 184 F.3d 1059, 1063 (9th Cir. 1999).
Additionally, asin al actions aleging fraud, plaintiffs must state with particularity the circumstances
congtituting fraud. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
3) Section 20(a)

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act provides derivative liability for those who control
others found to be primarily liable under the Act. In re Ramp Networks, Inc. Sec. Lit., 201 F. Supp. 2d
1051, 1063 (N.D. Cal. 2002). Where a plaintiff asserts a section 20(a) claim based on an underlying

violation of section 10(b), the pleading requirements for both violations are the same. 1d.

4) Private Securities L itigation Reform Act

In 1995, Congress enacted the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act to provide “ protections to
discourage frivolous [securities] litigation.” H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 104-369, 104th Cong., 1st Sess. at 32
(1995) (Nov. 28, 1995). The PSLRA strengthened the pleading requirements of Rules 8(a) and 9(b).
Actions based on alegations of material misstatements or omissions under the PSLRA must “ specify each

7
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statement alleged to have been mideading, the reason or reasons why the statement is miseading, and, if an
alegation regarding the statement or omission is made on information and belief, the complaint shall state
with particularity al facts on which that belief isformed.” 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(1).

The PSLRA aso heightened the pleading threshold for causes of action brought under Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Specifically, the PSLRA imposed strict requirements for pleading scienter. A
complaint under the PSLRA must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the
defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). The Ninth Circuit, in
interpreting the PSLRA, has held that “a private securities plaintiff proceeding under the [PSLRA] must
plead, in great detail, facts that congtitute strong circumstantial evidence of deliberately reckless or
conscious misconduct.” In re Slicon Graphics Inc., 183 F.3d 970, 974 (9th Cir. 1999). If the complaint
does not satisfy the pleading requirements of the PSLRA, upon motion by the defendant, the court must
dismiss the complaint. See 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(1).

ANALYSIS

Defendants move the Court to dismiss Plaintiffs Amended Complaint with prejudice pursuant to
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA” or “Reform Act”) and Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure 9(b) and 12(b)(6) on severa grounds. Defendants argue that: 1) Plaintiffs fail to plead any
facts supporting their information and belief alegations as required by the Reform Act; 2) Plaintiffs
alegations of “channe stuffing” areirrelevant to the claim and impossible; 3) the Amended Complaint fails
to plead scienter; and 4) the accounting fraud claims can not be brought under Rule 10b-5 on the facts
dleged.’
l. Lack of Factual Support for Allegationsin the Complaint

“Under the PSLRA, Plaintiffs pleading on information and belief must * state with particularity dl

*Defendants also argue that the Safe Harbor provisions of the Reform Act bar claims based on
Defendants' forward looking statements. However, the Court does not reach the relatively fact-intensive issues
related to whether there exists meaningful cautionary language within Monterey Pasta’s FY 2001 Form 10-K
and 1Q02 Form 10-Q sufficient to dispose of any or al of Plaintiff’s claims because the pleading at issue is
infirm on a number of other grounds. However, the Court notes that a strong argument can be made that
Congress did not intend to allow safe harbor cautionary statements to be incorporated by reference into
separate written forward-looking statements not filed with the SEC. See 141 Cong. R. H13692, H13703
(Nov. 28, 1995). Assuch, Defendants are advised to consider the propriety of requesting judicial notice of
the above-referenced documentsin support of any subsequently filedmotionto dismisswherein the protections
of the safe harbor provisions of the Reform Act are at issue.

8
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facts on which that belief isformed.”” In re Autodesk, Inc. Sec. Lit., 132 F. Supp. 2d 833, 839 (N.D.
Cal. 2000) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1)). The Ninth Circuit has interpreted this statutory language to
mean that a plaintiff “must provide alist of al relevant circumstances in great detail.” In re Slicon Graphics
Sec. Lit., 183 F.3d 970, 984 (9th Cir. 1999). “It isirrelevant whether a plaintiff uses the phrase
‘information and belief’ when alleging fal se representations because allegations of misrepresentations not
made on personal knowledge are presumed to have been made on information and belief.” Id.
Additionally, athough reliance on an anonymous source is not per seimproper under the PSLRA,
allegations attributed to an unnamed source must be “accompanied by enough particularized detail to
support a reasonable conviction in the informant’s basis of knowledge.” In re Northpoint
Communications Group, Inc. Sec. Lit., 221 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1097-98 (N.D. Cal. 2002). Therefore,
the first step in surviving a motion to dismiss under the PSLRA is to plead a manipulative or deceptive
practice with sufficient particularity to meet this standard.

Defendants contend that the Complaint must be dismissed because Plaintiffs plead on information
and belief and rely on only one source, an anonymous Director of Quality Assurance in charge of
production who is not alleged to have any basis for first-hand knowledge about the sales, forecasts,
marketing, customer relationships, or public statements discussed in the Complaint. The Complaint gives
no details as to the nature of the unnamed source’s job duties, other than that he was “in charge of
production,” nor does the Complaint provide any detail as to how the witness came to learn much of the
information attributed to him. For example, the anonymous source states that “the Company’s aggressive
third quarter sales efforts were authorized by defendant Hewitt” but offers no explanation as to how the
source knew of such authorization by Mr. Hewitt. (Compl. 1 30). Similarly, the source claims that
Monterey Pasta “continually over-shipped product just to keep shipping and revenue numbers up” but does
not include detail as to how the witness would have this information or what caused him to believe this. 1d.
Further, the source claims that 3Q02 shipments were “way over what customers needed” and had the
“effect of flooding their distribution warehouses,” but does not explain how he would know what the
customer needed or the state of their distribution warehouses. Id. Without more information, this Court
has no basis for relying on the witness statements as sufficient to draw an inference of fraud under the

requirements of the PSLRA. See Northpoint, 221 F.Supp.1090, 1097-98 (N.D. Cal. 2002).
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Plaintiffs contend that they have described the witness' title and job description adequately to
create a strong inference that he had “personal knowledge regarding the inventory of the company.” (Opp.
13:17-19). Evenif it wastrue that a Director of Quality Assurance could be assumed to have personal
knowledge of inventory of the company and/or its customers, which is by itself a dubious proposition,
knowledge of “inventory” is an insufficient basis for many of the statements attributed to the witness.
Although there are some statements from which an adequate basis for knowledge can be inferred, for
example where the unnamed source claims to have personally questioned the rationale for mass production
and why an end-cap promotion had not occurred, these statements are thinly scattered throughout what
otherwise appears to be unfounded and sometimes unintelligible speculation.

Indeed, the unnamed witness' statements quoted by Plaintiffs appear to indicate such speculation:
the witness is quoted as saying that when “you’ re shipping 20,000 - 20,000 - 20,000, and all of a sudden
you ship 100,000 without a major promotion or new product launch . . . you have to scratch your head and
wonder why they would do that.” (Compl. §31). The witness clearly had no basis for knowledge of the
reasoning behind the varying shipments when they were made, and offers no further insight in the
Complaint. Asanother example, the witness is quoted as saying, “look at the order of events, we did the
press releases and hitting [sic] sales number and subsequently we started seeing alot of stock being sold
and then in a short period of timethishits. . . asfar asthe glut.” (Compl. 33). Such statements indicate
that the source noticed and wondered about occurrences he observed at Monterey Pasta, but do not
demonstrate any knowledge as to the rationale behind the company’s decisions. Additionally, they offer the
Court no insight into the time frame or context in which the statements were made. As such, the witness
offerslittle in the way of affirmative allegations of wrongdoing and much in the way of speculation. Without
more, the Court has no basis from which to gauge reliability of the witness' information or to draw an
inference of fraud.

Paintiffs contend that they also rely on Monterey Pasta's public filings, internal documents and
insde information in addition to the unnamed witness, and that even if the Court finds the unnamed witness
to be unreliable, Plaintiffs have “ stated numerous other facts to support their clams.” (Opp. 14:1-7).
However, thisis not so. Plaintiffs have not directly referred to or attached any internal documents or

information, other than the quotations from the unnamed Director of Quality Assurance which, as discussed

10
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above, are insufficient. Without more information about any internal documents, their contents, and who
had access to such inside information, the Court can not consider mere mention of them sufficient to plead a
securities fraud clam. SeeInre Slicon Graphics Sec. Lit., 183 F.3d 970, 985 (9th Cir. 1999) (“a

proper complaint which purports to rely on the existence of internal reports would contain at least some
specifics from those reports as well as such facts as may indicate their reliability”); Lipton v. Pathogenisis
Corp., 284 F.3d 1027, 1036 (9th Cir. 2002).

Asfor public filings, Plaintiffs have referred explicitly and implicitly to many press releases and SEC
filingsin the Complaint, and the Court has taken judicia notice of them pursuant to Defendants’ request.
However, the documents alone are insufficient to support Plaintiffs’ claims. The documents referenced do
not show any unusua movement of inventory to support a“channel stuffing” theory, do not alone lend
support to contentions of misrepresentation or omission of materia facts regarding the financia state of the
company, and do not support Plaintiffs allegations of scienter reaching intentional or reckless misstatements
or omissions on the part of Monterey Pasta or the Individual Defendants.

Because Plaintiffs have not provided the Court with sufficiently particularized detail to support a
reasonable conviction in the unnamed informant’s basis of knowledge for many, if not al, of the facts
testified to, and because the allegations in the Complaint are largely unsupported by other sources of
information mentioned in the Complaint, Plaintiffs have not alleged any deceptive practices sufficient for a
securities fraud claim. Therefore, the Court could grant the motion on the basis of insufficient factual
alegations.

. Insufficient Allegations of Channe Stuffing

Defendants also argue that Plaintiffs' claims of false forecasting must be dismissed because channel
stuffing is not improper or deceitful and because channel stuffing isimpossible under the facts aleged.
However, Plaintiffs counter that Defendants have misconstrued the Complaint in that the mainstay of the
adlegationsis not channel stuffing, but instead is “an intricate ploy contrived by Defendants to conceal
adverse, interna information rendering Defendants’ public statements false and misleading, while
Defendants ssmultaneoudly engaged in channel stuffing to outwardly project an image of sales and earnings
growth.” (Opp. 6:5-9). No matter how interpreted, Plaintiffs claims fail to properly show the required

discord between Defendants’ internal actions and knowledge and their public statements for a violation of

11
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sections 10(b) and 20(a).

The parties dispute the importance of the channel stuffing allegations made in the complaint.
Defendants contend that there is nothing wrong with channel stuffing, and that such actions are not
actionable in the Ninth Circuit. (Motion to Dismiss 1V.B.1, citing Steckman v. Hart Brewing Co., 143
F.3d 1293, 1298 (9th Cir. 1998).) However, Plaintiffs claim that they are not aleging that channel stuffing
by itself is actionable. Instead they seek to show that Monterey Pasta used channel stuffing to outwardly
project a false image of sales and earnings growth when in reality Defendants knew this was not the case,
and thus the statements made during the class period were false or misleading when made. (Opp. 6:5-9).*

The Ninth Circuit has recently stated that “channel stuffing claims may have some probative value
insofar as the channedl stuffing was done so asto artificialy inflate income, but there may also be other
legitimate reasons for attempting to achieve sales earlier.” Broudo v. Dura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 339
F.3d 933, 940 (9th Cir. 2003). Courts in this district have almost uniformly rejected the idea that
alegations of channel stuffing are sufficient to plead a securities fraud violation. See, e.g., id. (finding no
fault with adistrict court’s conclusion that the allegation of channel stuffing was insufficient for scienter);
Coblev. Broadvision Inc., 2002 WL 31093589 at *8 (Sept. 11, 2002, N.D. Cal.); In re Ramp
Networks, Inc. Sec. Lit., 201 F. Supp. 2d 1051, 1077 (N.D. Cal. 2002); In re Splash Technology
Holdings, Inc. Sec. Lit., 160 F. Supp. 2d 1059, 1076 (N.D. Cal. 2001).

Indeed, the Ninth Circuit has referred to channel stuffing claims as “ speculation made in hindsight.”
Seckman v. Hart Brewing, Inc., 143 F.3d 1293, 1298 (9th Cir. 1998). Therefore, to the extent that
Paintiffs rely on a channel stuffing theory to support their claims that the challenged statements were false
when made or that Defendants acted with the requisite scienter, and even if Plaintiffs had plead sufficient
factual information to indicate that channel stuffing indeed took place, which they have not, the channel

stuffing alegations are insufficient for the Complaint to survive the motion to dismiss. ©

“Thus, Plaintiffs appear to rly on channel suffing as proof of scienter. To the extent that thisis the
case, the discussion in this section is also relevant to whether Plaintiffs have adequately plead Defendants
scienter. Asdiscussed below, Plaintiffs allegations of channel stuffing are insufficient as factua allegations or
as proof of scienter to make a claim under the PSLRA.

SDefendants also argue that the time line of events Plantiffs have plead does not make sense with

respect to the channel suffingallegations. Plaintiffsalegethat channel stuffing took place after the end of 2Q02
(see Compl. 138, 39), but that they rely on channel stuffing to support the theory that the statements made in
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[11. Insufficient Allegations of Scienter

Under the PSLRA, Plaintiffs must alege particular facts giving rise to a strong inference of the
required state of mind. 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-4(b)(2). For forward looking statements, the required state of
mind is actual knowledge that the statement was false or misleading. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(c). For other
statements, plaintiffs must “state specific facts indicating no less than a degree of recklessness that strongly
suggests actud intent . . . .the PSLRA requires plaintiffs to plead, at a minimum, particular facts giving rise
to astrong inference of deliberate or conscious recklessness.” Inre Slicon Graphics, Inc. Sec. Lit., 183
F.3d 970, 979 (9th Cir.1999). Where the pleadings are not sufficiently particularized or where, even taken
as awhole, they do not raise a strong inference of scienter, a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is proper. Lipton v.
Pathogenesis Corp., 284 F.3d 1027, 1035, 1038 (9th Cir. 2002).

Here, because Plaintiffs have not made clear exactly what statements they challenge and whether
they are statements of present condition or forward-looking, and to give Plaintiffs the benefit of the doubt,
the Court examines scienter under the lower standard, requiring Plaintiffs to allege specific facts and
corroborating details that, looked at in total, create a strong inference of deliberate or conscious
recklessness. Plaintiffs have not met this lower pleading requirement.

A. Individual Defendants Knowledge of Improper Sales Practices

Plaintiffs contend that corporate insiders Hewitt and Brinkman, individual Defendants in this lawsuit,
were the two highest ranking officers at Monterey Pasta during the class period. They therefore contend
that these individuals had “access to the adverse non-public information about the business, finances,
markets and present and future business prospects . . . viaaccess to internal corporate documents,
conversations or connections with corporate officers or employees, attendance at management meetings

and committees thereof and/or via reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith.”

aluy 11, 2002 press release (which would pre-date the alleged channel stuffing) were false and mideading
when made. Because the Complaint fals on other grounds, the Court declines to discuss in any length this
potential pleading infirmity. However, if Plaintiffs attempt to amend the Complaint, any such temporal
discrepancies should be adequately addressed.

*Defendants also contend that it would be impossible for Monterey Pasta to “ channel stuff” because
itsrefrigerated goods aredate-stamped and perishable. Assuch, Defendants could not intentional ly oversupply
inventory in one quarter, thus supplanting sales in the next quarter while the oversupply is depleted, because
the goods would spoil in the interim. Though it istrue that this Court must draw dl reasonabl e inferences from
the Complaint alegations, including inferences unfavorable to Plantiffs, Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893,
897 (9th Cir. 2002), given the other infirmities it is unnecessary for the Court to draw such aninference here.
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(Compl. 11 65.)

Aside from this and similar blanket statements as to what Defendants knew or should have known,
Paintiffs fail to alege specificaly what information these individuas, or anyone else a the company, actualy
acquired through “inside access.” Other than the statements of the sole unnamed witness for whom no
basis of knowledge was established, Plaintiffs have not alleged any particular facts relating to any of their
alegations which could impute any knowledge or deliberate recklessness to the individual Defendants. This
is clearly insufficient to establish a“strong inference’ of scienter. See, e.g. In re Read-Rite Corp. Sec.
Lit., 335 F.3d 843, 848-49 (9th Cir. 2003); In re Splash Technology Holdings, Inc. Sec. Lit., 160 F.
Supp. 2d 1059, 170, 179 (N.D. Cdl. 2001) (finding such bald allegations of inside knowledge insufficient
under the PSLRA).

Plaintiffs also mention an integrated management information system known as the Expandable
MRP system, which provides Defendants with immediate and complete financial information and by which
Defendants could closely monitor company operations. (Compl. 11 26, 34.) Apparently Plaintiffs believe
that Defendants obtained material adverse information from this system, and that they intentionally or
recklessly made false or mideading statements with knowledge of thisinformation. However, Plaintiffs have
not aleged through specific facts that either of the individual Defendants, or others in the company, had
access to or looked at thisinformation. They also have not alleged specifically what information the system
would have provided had Defendants monitored it. For example, such a system might provide employees
with information about when and where products were shipped, and such information might assist in
corroborating the unnamed witness' statements and create a stronger inference of scienter. However,
without more information, the Court can not infer any knowing or reckless falsity on the part of any of the
Defendants. See Lipton v. Pathogenesis Corp., 284 F.3d at 1035-36 (quoting Slicon Graphics, 183
F.3d at 985) (a“proper complaint which purports to rely on the existence of internal reports would at least
contain some specifics form those reports as well as such facts as may indicate their reliability”).

B. Insider Sales

Plaintiffs also rely on stock sales by Defendants Hewitt and Brinkman as indication of Defendants
scienter. Generally, stock sale allegations can not raise an inference of scienter unless Plaintiffs allege

specific facts showing that the sales were “dramatically out of line with prior trading practices at times
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calculated to maximize the persona benefit from undisclosed inside information.” Silicon Graphics, 183
F.3d at 986. Among the relevant factors for a court to consider are: 1) the amount and percentage of
shares sold by insiders; 2) timing of the sales; and 3) whether the sales were consistent with the insider’s
prior trading history. Id.

Defendant Hewitt sold 30,000 shares of Monterey Pasta stock between August 6 and August 13,
2002 at $7.70 to $8.174 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $280,000. (Compl. 42.) He
then sold 5,000 shares at $7.578 per share on September 3, 2002, and 23,700 shares at $6.85 to $6.956
between November 18 and November 29, 2002. (Compl. 144, 50.) Finally, between December 2 and
December 16, 2002, Defendant Hewitt sold 31,515 shares at $6.85 to $7.038 per share. (Compl. § 51.)
Defendant Brinkman sold 15,000 shares at $8.00 to $8.043 per share between August 15 and August 26,
2002. (Compl. 143.) Plaintiffs do not allege the percentage, timing or sales history of Defendants.
However, Defendants assert that Mr. Hewitt sold approximately 37.7 percent of his holdings, and Mr.
Brinkman sold approximately 7.75 percent of his holdings during the class period.’

In light of the three factors above, these sales are not sufficiently suspicious to raise an inference of
scienter. Mr. Brinkman sold arelatively low percentage of his shares at the end of aquarter. See
Ronconi, 253 F.3d at 435 (suggesting that sales of 10-17% of holdings was not suspicious). Mr. Hewitt
sold more shares, but given his pending retirement (Banie Decl. Exh 1) and the fact that he also sold a
roughly proportional number of shares in the months leading up to the class period, (Banie Decl. Exh.17-
19) such sales are not sufficiently suspicious. See In re K-tel International, Inc. Sec. Lit., 300 F.3d 881
(8th Cir. 2002); Greebel v. FTP Software, Inc., 194 F.3d 185, 206 (1st Cir. 1999) (it is not uncommon
for individuals leaving a company to sdll shares).

Further, Plaintiffs state that both Defendants sold shares under individual SEC Rule 10b5-1 trading
plans, which allows corporate insiders to set a schedule by which to sell shares over a twelve to fifteen
month period. (Compl. 141). This could raise an inference that the sales were pre-scheduled and not
suspicious. See Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893, 897 (9th Cir. 2002) (a court must consider all

reasonable inferences to be drawn from this alegation, including one unfavorable to Plaintiffs).

7 Although these percentages were not alleged in the Complaint, Plaintiffs do not object to these figures
noted in Defendants' papers. The Court takes judicia notice of the press release and Forms 4 from which
these numbers were calcul ated.
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C. Plaintiffs Scienter Allegations Asa Whole

Additionaly, this Court must consider whether the totality of Plaintiffs scienter allegations, even
though individually lacking, are sufficient to create a strong inference that Defendants acted with deliberate
or conscious recklessness, if not actual knowledge. Lipton v. Pathogenesis Corp., 284 F.3d 1027,
1038 (9th Cir. 2002). Here, the sumisno greater than its parts. Plaintiffs have failed to provide necessary
detail regarding any corporate insider’ s knowledge or access to adverse information. Indeed, Plaintiffs
have failed to provide detail as to the existence of any adverse information. Aside from part of a sentence
quoted from an anonymous witness, the Complaint does not indicate how much product Defendants were
shipping at any given time. The Complaint gives no indication of sales numbers at any time during, before
or after the class period. Weak hints that because Mr. Hewitt and Mr. Brinkman were directors of
Monterey Pasta they would have accessto al corporate information, including adverse information that
Plaintiffs claim existed but have not described in any detall, is insufficient. Even coupled with the fact that
both Individual Defendants sold stock during the class period, thisis still clearly insufficient. Plaintiffs have
failed to allege any factual basis, let alone “particular facts giving rise to a strong inference” that Defendants
had the requisite state of mind to demonstrate a securities fraud violation.
V.  Accounting Fraud Claims

In the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violate GAAP and SEC rules by improperly
reporting financia results for 3Q02 through failure to “reveal the magnitude of phantom sales and revenues
achieved asaresult of . . . channel stuffing” as further support for the securities fraud allegations. (Compl. |
52; Opp. 19:9-13). Plaintiffs base this claim on SEC Rule 4-01(a) of SEC Regulation S-X, codified at 17
C.F.R. § 210.4-01(a)(1), which states that “[f]inancial statements filed with the [SEC] which are not
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles will be presumed to be misleading or
inaccurate.” Plaintiffs also rely on Item 303 of SEC Regulation S-K, codified at 17 C.F.R. § 229.303,
because Defendants “failed to disclose the existence of known trends, events or uncertainties that they
reasonably expected would have a material unfavorable impact on its operating results, or that were
reasonably likely to result in the Company’s liquidity decreasing in a material way.” (Compl. 57.) Findly,
Paintiffs rely on SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Number 101, which requires that revenue from sales be

disclosed separately on the face of an income statement.
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However, as discussed above, Plaintiffs have failed to plead a proper factual basis for their channel
stuffing allegations, and without proper alegations of channel stuffing thereis no basis for Plaintiff’s
accounting fraud claims.® Additionally, the SEC regulations and bulletins relied on by Plaintiffs have no
relevance to the statements made in press releases at issue in this case. Regulations S-K and S-X and
Bulletin 101 do not govern statements contained in press releases because press rel eases are not required
to be filed with the SEC. See In re Cylink Sec. Lit., 178 F. Supp. 2d 1077, 1086 (N.D. Cal. 2001); 17
C.F.R. §229.10. Therefore, the only possible “hook” for these regulations is the challenged 3Q02 SEC
Form 10-Q. However, 17 C.F.R. § 229.303(a), governing reporting for full fiscal years, isinapplicable to
this quarterly report. 17 C.F.R. 8 229.303(b), which governsinterim period reporting, does not include the
requirement of section 303(a) to disclose certain “known trends,” the requirement that Plaintiffs allegein the
Complaint was breached.® (See Compl. 57.)

Further, even if Plaintiffs could demonstrate a breach of 17 C.F.R. § 229.303, this would not assist
in stating a cause of action under section 10(b) for securities fraud. The standards for disclosure under
section 10(b) differ from the standards for disclosure under 17 C.F.R. § 229.303. See Alfusv. Pyramid
Tech., 764 F. Supp. 598, 608 (N.D. Cal. 1991) (breach of Item 303 “does not |lead inevitably to the
conclusion that such disclosure would be required under Rule 10b-5"). See also Seckman v. Hart
Brewing, Inc., 143 F.3d 1293 (9th Cir. 1998); Inre VeriFone Sec. Lit., 11 F.3d 865, 870 (9th Cir.
1993); Oranv. Safford, 226 F.3d 275, 287-88 (3d Cir. 2000). This appears to be true for Bulletin 101
aswell, in that the language of the bulletin mirrors that of section 303. Further, Bulletin 101 is one of many
staff accounting bulletins which are not rules or interpretations of the SEC and do not have the force of law.
See Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576, 587 (2000).

V. Rule 20(a) Liability

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act provides derivative liability for those who control

®Indeed, it is doubtful that even an adequately supported channel uffing alegationwould be sufficient
to show asection303 violation. Inaclaim brought under sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Exchange
Act, the Ninth Circuit found that a channel stuffing allegation was insufficient to support a claim under 303(a),
because the claim was “ speculation made in hindsight.” Steckman v. Hart Brewing, Inc., 143 F.3d 1293,
1298 (9th Cir. 1998).

°17 C.F.R. § 229.303(b) does requireadiscussionof any material changes in those items specifically

listed in section 303(a), including “ knowntrends.” However, Plantiffshave not sufficiently alleged any “ material
change” in a*“known trend” that would require disclosure under this provision either.
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others found to be primarily liable under the Act. In re Ramp Networks, Inc. Sec. Lit., 201 F. Supp. 2d
1051, 1063 (N.D. Cal. 2002). Where a plaintiff asserts a section 20(a) claim based on an underlying
violation of section 10(b), the pleading requirements for both violations are the same. 1d.

Here, Plaintiffs assert that Defendants Brinkman and Hewitt are liable under this section because of
an underlying violation of section 10(b). (Compl. 1 88.) However, because Plaintiffs have failed to
adequately plead the underlying 10b-5 violation, the section 20(a) claims must be dismissed as well.

VI.  Dismissal Without Prgudice

Leave to amend under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15 should be liberally granted. “Dismissal
with prejudice and without leave to amend is not appropriate unlessit isclear . . . that the complaint could
not be saved by amendment.” Eminence Capital v. Aspeon Inc., 316 F.3d 1048, 1053 (9th Cir. 2003)
(error to refuse leave to amend in a securities fraud case to allow plaintiff to plead scienter). Here, itis
possible that Plaintiffs could remedy their significant pleading defectsin an amended complaint by adding
detailed factual support for their allegations of false or misleading statements, and demonstrating that
Defendants had the requisite scienter at the time the statements were made. The Court therefore grants
dismissal without prejudice in order to alow Plaintiffs the opportunity to attempt to remedy the pleading
defectsif they choose to do so.

CONCLUSION

After consideration of the Complaint and moving papers and upon hearing oral argument, in light of
the heightened pleading standards of the PSLRA and the requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6), the Court hereby GRANTS Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the Complaint without prejudice.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

Dated: November 4, 2003 19

MARTIN J. JENKINS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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